Case 2020AP001243 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-01-2021 Page 1 of 38

RECEIVED
02-01-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

**DISTRICT III** 

Appeal No. 2020 AP 1243 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff – Respondent,

v.

JENNIFER A. JENKINS,

Defendant – Appellant.

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

# APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE

ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MITCHELL J. METROPULOS PRESIDING

COTTLE | PASQUALE | LABORDE, s.c.

Stephanie M. Rock State Bar No.: 1117723

Sheboygan, WI 53081

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a *Judgment of Conviction* (R. 23) entered in the Circuit Court for Outagamie County, Branch III, before the Honorable Mitchell J. Metropulos, presiding judge.

On January 17, 2019, the State of Wisconsin filed a *Traffic Criminal Complaint* which charged the Defendant-Appellant, Jennifer A. Jenkins, with one count of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated (Second Offense), contrary to sections 346.63 (1)(a) and 346.65 (2)(am)(2), Wis. Stats., and one count of Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (Second Offense), contrary to sections 346.63 (1)(b) and 346.65 (2)(am)(2), Wis. Stats. (R. 1).

Thereafter, on February 11, 2019, counsel for Ms. Jenkins appeared on her behalf and entered pleas of "not guilty" to both counts charged in the complaint. (R. 29:2).

On June 4, 2019, Ms. Jenkins filed a *Motion to Suppress Evidence*, wherein she asserted two (2) separate and distinct claims that police violated her constitutional rights and protections against unreasonable searches and seizures, as guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution. (R. 14). Consequent to these claims, Ms. Jenkins sought an order to suppress all evidence which was causally obtained, either directly or indirectly, on the basis of the asserted constitutional violations. *Id*.

A *Motion Hearing* was held on July 10, 2019. (R. 30). The only witness presented by the State was Town of Grand Chute Police Officer Adam Miller ("Officer Miller"). (R. 30). After such hearing, Ms. Jenkins, by counsel, filed a brief in support of the motion to suppress evidence on August 9, 2019. (R. 15).

The next *Hearing* in this matter was held August 30, 2019, at which – based on discussions upon the record – the circuit court allowed the defense to supplement the record, particularly to submit and introduce an audiovisual recording(s) originated from cameras associated with Officer Miller. (R. 31:2-4). Accordingly, by a *Notice of Admission of Exhibit*, dated September 19, 2019, admitted was an "audiovisual recording originated from the camera situated within the patrol squad operated by Grand Chute Police Officer Adam Miller." (R. 17). Additionally, the defense filed a supplemental brief in support of the motion to suppress evidence on the same day. (R. 16.).

On September 27, 2019, a *Hearing* was held in which the circuit court advised it was unable to view the audiovisual recording originated from the arresting officer's patrol squad camera and therefore the matter was adjourned. (R. 32:2-3). Thereafter, hearings were held on October 9, 2019 and October 25, 2019. During both hearings, based on varying technical issues, it was noted that the circuit court was still unable to view the audiovisual recording; in turn, the matter was adjourned. (R. 33:2-4; R. 34:2-3, respectively).

Finally, at a *Hearing/Oral Ruling* held on October 31, 2019, the circuit court was able to view the audiovisual recording. (R. 35:2-3). Following the viewing of the recording, the circuit court allowed oral arguments by counsel. (R. 35:3-7). The circuit court then orally decided Ms. Jenkins' motion to suppress evidence on the record and denied the same. (R. 35:7-9).

On January 15, 2020, a *Plea and Sentencing Hearing* was held, at which Ms. Jenkins entered a plea of 'no contest' to Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated (Second Offense). (R. 36). The charge of Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (Second Offense) was dismissed. *Ibid*. The circuit court imposed the following sentence: confinement in jail for forty (40) days (subject to the SSTOP,<sup>1</sup> thirty (30) days stayed); a fine, plus applicable costs, fees and surcharges, for a total sum of \$1,739.90; fourteen (14) month revocation of operating privileges; ignition interlock device order for a period of one (1) year; and an order for an alcohol/drug assessment. (R. 36:7-8).

A timely *Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief* was filed on January 15, 2020. (R. 19). Ms. Jenkins sentence was stayed pending appeal. (see R. 21; R. 36:8; R. 23:1).

A *Judgement of Conviction* was entered on January 22, 2020 (R. 23). Ms. Jenkins now appeals.

#### STATEMENT OF THE RELEVANT FACTS

#### A. Motion to Suppress Evidence

Ms. Jenkins' motion to suppress evidence was filed on June 4, 2019, which asserted two claims: 1) that the traffic stop of Ms. Jenkins by the arresting officer that ultimately led to the charges in this matter was unlawful and unconstitutional; and 2) following arrest, that a collection of a blood specimen from Ms. Jenkins' body was accomplished unreasonably, thereby rendering such intrusion violative of the Fourth Amendment's prescription that all searches be reasonable. (R. 14: 3-5).

More specifically, as to the first claim, Ms. Jenkins' motion asserted that she was subject to an extra-jurisdictional traffic stop by the arresting officer, and that such stop:

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> SSTOP is an acronym for the Safe Streets Options Program.

- 1) was not based on a personal observation of "a traffic code violation within [Officer Miller's] jurisdiction in order to justify an extra-jurisdictional traffic stop;" and
- 2) was not accomplished lawfully under the "fresh doctrine and, consequently, it was conducted unreasonably under the circumstances.

(R. 14: 3-5).

As to the second claim, Ms. Jenkins' motion asserted that during the collection of a blood sample that she "was subject to multiple needle insertions into her body and the entire blood draw lasted an inordinate amount of time," resulting in undue pain and discomfort. (R. 14: 2, 5). The motion further asserted "that these circumstances rendered the blood draw unreasonable and therefore violative of the Fourth Amendment's prescription that all searches be reasonable." (R. 14: 5).

As to relief sought, the motion requested an order to suppress all evidence which was causally obtained, either directly or indirectly, on the basis of the asserted constitutional violations. Id.

## B. Motion Hearing

As stated above, a *Motion Hearing* was held on July 10, 2019. The only witness at such hearing was Officer Miller.

Officer Miller, employed by the Town of Grand Chute Police Department, testified that on October 12, 2018, he was on patrol duty in the Town of Grand Chute. (R. 30:5). While northbound on Bluemound Drive, he observed a motor vehicle, later identified as a Jeep,<sup>2</sup> that "appeared to be traveling a little bit fast" eastbound on Wisconsin Avenue. (R. 30:5, 13). Officer Miller, however, was not "able to confirm" whether the Jeep was, in fact, traveling in excess of the posted speed limit. (R. 30:5).

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> R. 30:12.

Case 2020AP001243 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-01-2021 Page 11 of 38

Officer Miller positioned his patrol squad behind the Jeep and intentionally began to follow the same. (R. 30:13). Both Officer Miller's patrol squad and the Jeep were directionally headed eastbound on Wisconsin Avenue. (R. 30:5). While following the Jeep, and while situated a mere "[t]hree car lengths" behind the same, Officer Miller claimed to observe both of the driver's side tires of the Jeep cross the centerline at "Wisconsin [Avenue] and Popp [Street]" within the Town of Grand Chute. (R. 30:5-6, 14). Officer Miller specifically testified that "at least a third" of the Jeep traveled into the oncoming lane of traffic. (R. 30:6).

Instead of performing a traffic stop, Officer Miller continued to follow the Jeep for about the distance of a mile out of his jurisdiction of the Town of Grand Chute and into the City of Appleton. (R. 30:15). As he followed the Jeep, Officer Miller claimed it had a "difficult time maintaining a straight line in its lane of traffic" but noted "it never deviated from the lane of traffic." (R. 30:6). Officer Miller testified that there were no other motor vehicles on the roadway at the time. (R: 30: 13-14).

Officer Miller testified that upon reaching the intersection of Wisconsin and Badger avenues, that he observed roughly a third of the Jeep's body width to cross the centerline once again. (R. 30:6). Officer Miller further testified that he then activated his traffic lights and claimed it took the Jeep about a minute to stop. (R. 30:7).

Although Officer Miller did not activate his patrol squad's overhead emergency lights until after exiting his jurisdictional boundary, he nevertheless testified that he actually "decided to active my squad lights when I observed the first violation" but delayed doing so in favor of continuing to follow the Jeep because "I was obtaining evidence." (R: 30: 16). Additionally, as he followed the Jeep, Officer Miller further testified the Jeep was traveling the same approximate speed eastbound on Wisconsin Avenue from the Town of Grand Chute and then into the City of Appleton. (R. 30: 20-21). While merely implied by the context of the testimony, Office Miller seemingly admitted the Jeep was not exceeding the speed limit as he followed the same, but noted he believed

the Jeep's driver "slowed down when she saw me." (R. 30:21).

It is undisputed that following the traffic stop, Ms. Jenkins was arrested for OWI. (R. 1: 3). After her arrest, Ms. Jenkins was transported to a hospital so that a sample of her blood could be drawn for chemical testing. (R. 30: 10, 12). Officer Miller testified that Ms. Jenkins was "not necessarily cooperative" with the phlebotomist and did not follow directions. (R: 30: 10-11). However, Officer Miller was unable to articulate what directions Ms. Jenkins failed to follow. (R: 30: 11).

## C. Audiovisual Recording Evidence/Exhibit.

As noted above, Ms. Jenkins filed a *Notice of Admission of Exhibit*, dated September 19, 2019, which admitted an "audiovisual recording originated from the camera situated within the patrol squad operated by Grand Chute Police Officer Adam Miller." (R. 17). As also noted above, after presentation of challenges, the circuit court was able to view the audiovisual recording during the October 31, 2019, *Hearing/Oral Ruling*, particularly at time stamps of 22:42 to 23:53. (R. 35:2-3).

Concurrent with the filing of the notice admitting the audiovisual recording, Ms. Jenkins additionally filed a Supplement to Brief in Support of Defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence. Within that supplemental brief, Ms. Jenkins outlined the following facts established by such exhibit:

- 1) At the July 10<sup>th</sup> *Motion Hearing*, Officer Miller testified that the alleged second cross-of-centerline violation by the Jeep occurred at intersection of Wisconsin and Badger avenues in the City of Appleton.
  - However, the footage shows that the cross-of-centerline violation occurred on Wisconsin Avenue between the intersects of Douglas and Gillett streets in the City of Appleton. Thus, the cross-of-centerline violation occurred two and one-half to three blocks east of the location in which Officer Miller claimed in testimony. See exhibit at times 12:22:44 AM to 12:22:50 AM.
- 2) At the July 10<sup>th</sup> Motion Hearing, Officer Miller testified

that the alleged second cross-of-centerline violation in the City of Appleton resulted in about one-third of the Jeep's body crossing the centerline.

- However, the footage shows that the cross of centerline by the Jeep was roughly a tire's width or so, but nothing close to one-third of the Jeep's body. See exhibit at times 12:22:44 AM to 12:22:50 AM.
- 3) At the July 10<sup>th</sup> *Motion Hearing*, Officer Miller testified that he activated his patrol squad's overhead emergency lights after his observation of the cross-of-centerline violation in the City of Appleton and, when viewed in context, he suggested it was immediate.
  - However, the footage shows that Officer Miller actually activated his overhead red-and-blue lights at the intersection of Wisconsin Avenue/Mason Street in Appleton, which would be approximately one and one-half to two blocks east of the cross-of-centerline violation (or well over four blocks east of the intersection of Wisconsin and Badger avenues). See exhibit at times 12:23:12.
- 4) At the July 10<sup>th</sup> *Motion Hearing*, Officer Miller testified that after activation of his overhead red-and-blue lights, that the Jeep continued to travel for about one (1) minute before stopping.
  - However, the footage uncontrovertibly shows that the Jeep stopped in about twenty (20) seconds after the activation of Officer Miller's overhead red-and-blue lights (which included time for the Jeep, with use of its blinker, to execute a right turn off of Wisconsin Avenue and stop at the next cross street of Summit Street). See exhibit at times 12:23:13 AM to 12:23:33 AM.

The exhibit shows the following facts:

- The approximate distance between the alleged lane deviation at the intersection of Wisconsin Avenue/Popp Street in Grand Chute to the point Officer Miller activated his squad's overhead redand-blue lights at the intersection of Wisconsin Avenue/Mason Street was 1.4 miles. In other words, Officer Miller delayed the traffic stop unnecessarily by electing to travel for nearly a mile and half before attempting to effectuate a traffic stop.
- The approximate distance from the point that Officer

Miller left his jurisdiction of Grand Chute to the point he actually activated his squad's overhead red-and-blue lights in Appleton was one-half mile. In other words, even after leaving his jurisdiction and upon entering a neighboring municipality, Officer Miller further delayed attempting to initiate a traffic stop by traveling roughly half of a mile in distance away from his home jurisdiction before even attempting to effectuate a traffic stop.

- The approximate distance from the alleged lane deviation at the intersection of Wisconsin Avenue/Popp Street in Grand Chute to the location of the traffic stop was 1.6 miles apart.
- That the footage rebuts Officer Miller's assertion that
  it took the driver of the Jeep an inordinate amount of
  time to respond to his squad's overhead red-and-blue
  lights, pull over and come to a complete stop. Indeed,
  the footage tends to show the driver's response time
  was reasonable and normal under the circumstances.

(R. 16: 1-2)(footnotes omitted). Not only were these asserted facts consistent with the audiovisual recording contained upon the admitted exhibit, but the State also did not materially dispute such assertions during any subsequent proceedings below.

### D. The Circuit Court's Ruling

The circuit court orally denied Ms. Jenkins' motion to suppress evidence. (R. 35: 7-9).

## i. Denial of Challenge of Traffic Stop.

In ruling on the challenge to the extra-jurisdictional traffic stop of Ms. Jenkins, the circuit court seemingly credited Officer Miller's testimony generally as it related to the two (2) alleged cross-of-centerline violations committed by Ms. Jenkins. *Ihid*.

First, the circuit court found that upon "review of the video today, it appears to be consistent with the testimony of Officer Miller" during the July 10<sup>th</sup> *Motion Hearing*, noting it

observed "the vehicle go over the centerline pretty early on to (sic) the video, and both the left wheels of the vehicle crossed the centerline[.]" (R. 35: 7). The circuit court acknowledged that this cross-of-centerline, as captured on the patrol squad camera recording, occurred in the City of Appleton. *Ibid*.

Second, circuit court found that the "original violation was observed by the officer in Grand Chute[,]" and further noted that this "first observation was made prior to the [squad camera] being activated." (R. 35: 7-8).

The circuit court then ruled that, based on Officer Miller's observation of the driver's cross-of-centerline violation within the Town of Grand Chute, that the officer "exercised reasonable discretion by continuing to follow the subject vehicle into the City of Appleton." (R. 35: 8). For these reasons, the circuit court held that "there certainly was a basis to pull the vehicle over in that the vehicle crossed the centerline[.]" (R. 35: 8). Consequently, the circuit court denied relief as to this claim. *Ibid*.

In its ruling, the circuit court did not clearly discriminate between the two (2) alleged cross-of-centerline violations and whether it was the first alleged violation that occurred within the officer's jurisdiction or second violation that occurred outside of the same, or both, that served as the basis to justify the traffic stop of Ms. Jenkins' motor vehicle. Moreover, as noted, the circuit court found that Officer Miller "exercised reasonable discretion" in following Ms. Jenkins' vehicle outside of his territorial jurisdiction before effectuating a traffic stop but failed to apply the established legal test set out by caselaw under the "fresh pursuit" doctrine.

## ii. Denial of Challenge of Collection of Blood Sample.

In ruling on the challenge to the collection of a blood sample from Ms. Jenkins, the circuit court accurately noted it "is a claim that the blood test itself was a violation of Miss Jenkins' Fourth Amendment rights." (R. 35: 8). The circuit court additionally noted that Ms. Jenkins "did not testify, nor did the person who retrieved the blood from the defendant[,]" and the "sole evidence" material to this issue was Officer Miller's testimony. (R. 35: 8-9). Indeed, the circuit court further announced that it "certainly... cannot speculate as to what [Ms. Jenkins] would have testified to, or even the phlebotomist, so I just have to rely on what the testimony was by Officer Miller with regards to that issue." (R. 35: 9).

Based on Officer Miller's testimony, the circuit court found that "there was a blood draw, and there may have been some issues to obtain the blood by the phlebotomist, but she was able to do that" and therefore there was "no evidence to indicate that there was any type of abuse or a violation of [Ms. Jenkins'] Fourth Amendment rights with regards to the administration of that blood test[.]" (R. 35: 9). Consequently, the circuit court denied relief as to this claim. *Ibid*.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Upon review of issues that concern whether a search or seizure is reasonable is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60,  $\P$  8, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. "A question of constitutional fact is a mixed question of law and fact to which we apply a two-step standard of review. We review the circuit court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard, and we review independently the application of those facts to constitutional principles." *Ibid*.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. Applicable Burden of Proof in Evidence Suppression Proceedings.

In the face of a challenge to an unlawful traffic stop or other challenge related to a warrantless search or seizure, the *onus probandi* rests entirely with the State. See *State v. Taylor*,

Case 2020AP001243 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-01-2021 Page 17 of 38

60 Wis. 2d 506, 519, 210 N.W.2d 873, 880 (1973) ("Where a violation of the Fourth Amendment right against an unreasonable search and seizure is asserted, the burden of proof upon the motion to suppress is upon the state.").

Just as in the circuit court, this standard is important during the appellate review process as well. Based on such standard, any undeveloped or equivocal evidentiary issues must therefore be resolved in favor of Ms. Jenkins and against the State.

# II. Applicable Quantum of Evidence in a "Fresh Pursuit" Case.

As to be better explained *infra*, an issue raised in this appeal deals with the doctrine of "fresh pursuit," which originated under common law and was thereafter codified by statute, to wit, Wis. Stat. § 175.40 (2).

"Generally, Wisconsin police officers have no authority outside of the political subdivision in which they are officers." State v. Haynes, 2001 WI App 266, ¶13, 248 Wis. 2d 724, 733, 638 N.W.2d 82, 86 (citing United States v. Mattes, 687 F.2d 1039, 1041 (7th Cir. 1982)). One limited exception to this general legal rule is that of the "fresh pursuit" doctrine. In short, the fresh pursuit doctrine, under certain circumstances only, grants authority to a police officer who is actively engaged in proper pursuit of a suspect who flees or otherwise leaves the pursuing officer's geographical boundaries of jurisdiction to still follow that suspect anywhere within the state in order to accomplish an arrest. See Wis. Stat. § 175.40 (2). Logically, and as is no different than most limited exceptions carved-out against a general legal rule, the fresh pursuit doctrine demands complete delineation of its underlying legal standards (i.e., its applicable legal test/factors) so that its application to the factual circumstances of any given case are guided by both an ascertainable method of evaluation to resolve legal issues and to plainly circumscribe the limits of such exception.

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