RECEIVED 03-03-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Page 1 of 33

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

2020AP1243-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Jennifer A. Jenkins,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH THREE, FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY

The Honorable Mitchell J. Metropulos, Presiding

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Charles M Stertz ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY 320 S. WALNUT STREET APPLETON WI 54911 (920) 832-5024 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Wisconsin Bar Number 1072938 STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins

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

ARGUMENT

1. Officer Miller had specific articulable facts justifying the traffic stop.

Arguments in briefs are not evidence. Appellate review is limited to the record before the appellate court. *State v. Sahs*, 2013 WI 51, ¶ 50, 347 Wis. 2d 641, 832 N.W.2d 80. An appellant may not attempt to build a new record on appeal to support his position with evidence that was never admitted in the court below. *United States v. Phillips*, 914 F.2d 835, 840 (7th Cir. 1990). The U.S. Supreme Court said it best:

We do not allow parties to stray beyond the bounds of the record for reasons so obvious and familiar that they scarcely require mention: if the evidence upon which a party bases its argument is not in the record, then the opposing party has not had the opportunity to respond appropriately, the district court has never had the opportunity to assess that evidence, and last, but by no means least, when push comes to shove, the 'evidence' may never materialize -

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins litigants often make representations that turn out to be inaccurate.

Russell v. Southard, 53 U.S. (12 How.) 139, 159 (1851). An appellate court knows only what the record contains. Office of Lawyer Regulation v. Kratz, 2014 WI 31, 353 Wis. 2d 696, ¶ 56 and n.11, 851 N.W.2d.

As the Appellate Record contains no exhibits or other testimony, the State specifically objects to this Court considering any "facts" not contained in the testimony of Officer Adam Miller.

a. Undisputed evidence shows a lane deviation violation.

Whether there is probable cause or reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Mitchell*, 167 Wis.2d 672, 684, 482 N.W.2d 364 (1992). The trial court's factual findings are reviewed under the "clearly erroneous standard." *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 10, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. The application of these facts to constitutional principles is reviewed de novo. *Id*.

A traffic stop is legal whenever the traffic officer has probable cause to believe a traffic violation has occurred. *Id.* 2009 WI 37 at \P 13. Probable cause refers to the "quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins police officer to believe'" that a traffic violation has occurred. Id at \P 14.

Wisconsin drivers are required to remain in their lane of traffic and not deviate over the centerline. Wis. Stat. § 346.05. In *Popke*, the Court found that the driver violates this statute anytime they drive left of center unless the driving fits one of the enumerated exceptions. *Id.* In *Popke*, Mr. Popke's vehicle swerved to the left so that approximately ¾ of his vehicle was left of the center line. *Id.* Mr. Popke argued that he was not driving left of center because he was only momentarily over the center line. *Id.* The Court of Appeals rejected this argument finding even briefly and partially crossing the center line (not the whole car) is a violation of Wis. Sat. § 346.05.

Officer Miller testified Ms. Jenkins vehicle crossed the center line while in the Town of Grand Chute, then, after correcting, she continued to swerve within her lane of traffic, then crossed the centerline again after entering the City of Appleton. (R. 30.) No evidence was introduced before the trial court disputing the violations of Wis. Sat. § 346.05.

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins b. Arguments in briefs are not evidence.

In her appellate brief, Ms. Jenkins does not dispute the 2nd violation, but provides, for the first time, an image off the internet in an attempt to dispute the first violation. That image is not part of the appellate record, nor is there any testimony as to when the image was recorded. Box v. A&P Tea Co., 772 F.2d 1372, 1379 n.5 (7th Cir. 1985) ('arguments in briefs are not evidence'), cert. denied, 478 U.S. 1010 (1986); see also Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 157-58 n.16, 90 S. Ct. 1598, 1608 n.16 (1970). Even if the this Court was allowed to look outside the record, there is no testimony relating to whether this is the correct intersection, if that is how the intersection looked in October 2018, or if that close-up at that specific angle shows where the violation occurred. Ms. Jenkins did not use the image during her opportunity to cross-examine Officer Miller or at any time before the circuit court.

The trial court found Officer Miller credible and found the video (also not in the Record) is consistent with Officer Miller's testimony. The image, even if admissible, does not make those factual findings clearly erroneous.

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins c. Lane violations, time of night, speed reduction, and swerving in own lane.

Driving need not be illegal in order to give rise to reasonable suspicion. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 24, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 14, 733 N.W.2d 634, 641. While swerving in one's own lane of traffic is not reasonable suspicion on its own, it can be considered as part of the totality of the circumstances. Id. In this case, Ms. Jenkins was driving at approximately midnight, crossed the center line, swerved within her lane of traffic for approximately a mile, then crossed the center line a second time. (R.30: 5-7 and 15.)

In *Post*, the suspect vehicle never left its lane of travel. The Wisconsin Supreme Court found that the swerving within its own lane of traffic coupled with the time of night and other circumstances was sufficient to find reasonable suspicion Mr. Post was driving while impaired and "the stop did not violate Post's constitutional right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures." *Post*, 2007 WI 60 at ¶ 37. Like Post, Ms. Jenkins was driving after midnight and she had "a difficult time maintaining a straight line in its lane of traffic." (R.30:6.) Ms. Jenkins also deviated from her lane of traffic in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.05. The "totality of the facts and

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins

circumstances" from when Officer Miller first observed Ms. Jenkins vehicle until the stop show a continuous driving behavior indicative of driving while impaired. These facts taken together provide reasonable suspicion Ms. Jenkins was driving while impaired.

2. The violation was continuous from the first observation of the vehicle until the traffic stop.

By the time Officer Miller stopped Ms. Jenkins, the totality of the circumstances readily gave Officer Miller reasonable suspicion—if not probable cause—that Ms. Jenkins had committed a traffic offense, either in the form of OWI or crossing the center line of traffic. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 30, 364 Wis.2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143; Post, 2007 WI 60 at ¶ 26. That some of the circumstances giving rise to such a determination occurred outside of Officer Miller's jurisdiction does not matter for constitutional purposes. Without more, it is not possible to find a constitutional violation occurred in this case when, regardless of "fresh pursuit" as understood in Wis. Stat. § 175.40(2), Officer Miller stopped Jenkins outside Grand Chute while possessing reasonable suspicion that she committed a traffic offense in Grand Chute.

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins Wisconsin's fresh pursuit law is found at Wis. Stat. §

175.40(2) which states:

For purposes of civil and criminal liability, any peace officer may, when in fresh pursuit, follow anywhere in the state and arrest any person for the violation of any law or ordinance the officer is authorized to enforce.

In Wisconsin, a three-pronged analysis is utilized when determining whether an officer acted in fresh pursuit: 1) the officer must act without undue delay; 2) the pursuit must be uninterrupted; and, 3) there is a close relationship in time between the commission of the offense, the commencement of the pursuit, and the apprehension of the suspect. *City of Brookfield v. Collar*, 148 Wis. 2d 839, 842-843, 436 N.W.2d 911 (Ct.App.1989); *State v. Haynes*, 2001 WI App 266, ¶6, 248 Wis. 2d 724, 730, 638 N.W.2d 82.

In this case, Officer Miller observed Ms. Jenkins driving "a little fast." Officer Miller immediately turned right from Bluemound Drive onto Wisconsin Avenue and begin following her. (R.30:5 and 13.) Once behind Ms. Jenkins vehicle, Officer Miller observed Ms. Jenkins cross the

Page 19 of 33

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins centerline in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.05. He continued to follow her for approximately one mile as she "was having a difficult time maintaining a straight line in (her) lane of traffic." (R.30:6.) After approximately one mile, Officer Miller observed Ms. Jenkins cross the center line a second time in in violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.05 at approximately Wisconsin and Badger, on the border of Appleton and Grand Chute. (R.30:6.) After observing the vehicle cross the center line a second time, Officer Miller initiated a traffic stop. (R.30:6.)

The only evidence before this Court is that the officer followed Ms. Jenkins for approximately one mile between the first violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.05 and second. It is undisputed Officer Miller initiated the stop immediately following the second violation of § 346.05, stats. Following a vehicle on a single road for one mile cannot possibly be "undue delay." See Haynes, 2001 WI App 266 (finding following a vehicle for two miles after a failing to stop at a red light was not an undue delay).

The evidence is clear: Officer Miller's observation of Ms. Jenkins was continuous and uninterrupted, and the distance between the initial violation and the location Ms.

Page 20 of 33

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins Jenkins finally stopped her vehicle amounted to significantly less than 2 miles. (R.30:5-7 and 18.)

The final question requires an examination of the relationship in time between the commission of the offense, the commencement of the pursuit, and the apprehension of the suspect. Collar, 148 Wis. 2d at 843. On cross, Officer Miller testified that Ms. Jenkins stopped within a minute after he initiated the stop. (R.30:7 and 35:8.) Whether the Court considers the question from the time Ms. Jenkins first crossed the center line (about one mile) or considers the totality of the facts showing reasonable suspicion of drunk driving, the time from the offense until the commencement of the pursuit was significantly less than 2 miles and a matter of minutes not hours. This is not unreasonable or a violation of Wis. Stat. § 175.40(2). See *Haynes*, 2001 WI App 266 (following for two miles).

3. Suppression is not the remedy

Suppression of evidence is "only required when evidence has been obtained in violation of a defendant's constitutional rights, or if a statute specifically provides for the suppression remedy." State v. Keith, 2003

Page 21 of 33

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins

WI App 47, \P 8, 260 Wis. 2d 592, 659 N.W.2d 403. In this case, the evidence clearly shows a violation of the traffic laws. (R.35:7-8.) Even if the Court only considers the violation of Wis. Sat. § 346.05 that occurred just past the border into the City of Appleton, that is still a violation of the traffic laws. As Officer Miller had probable cause to believe Ms. Jenkins violated a traffic law, the stop did not violate her 4th amendment rights. See *Keith*, 2003 WI App 47; and cf *State v. Slawek*, 114 Wis. 2d 332, 334, 338 N.W.2d 120, 120 (Ct. App. 1983) (on duty Chicago police officers who began following defendants' van in Chicago and traveled into Wisconsin).

Suppression is permitted for violations of statutes if suppression is necessary to achieve the objectives of the statute, even though the statute does not expressly provide for the suppression or exclusion of the evidence." State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, \P 62, 309 Wis.2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611. Under Popenhagen, a "circuit court has discretion to suppress or allow evidence obtained in violation of a statute that does not specifically require suppression of evidence obtained contrary to the statute, depending on the facts and circumstances of the case and the objectives of the statute." Id., \P 68. In general, suppression is designed

Page 22 of 33

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins to deter "unlawful or undesirable or unconstitutional police conduct" by making evidence obtained through that conduct inadmissible. Conrad v. State, 63 Wis.2d 616, 635, 218 N.W.2d 252 (1974). For a constitutional violation, suppression typically serves as a remedy, save for when the benefit brought by deterrence is outweighed by the costs to society imposed by frustrating the truth-seeking function. State v. Jackson, 2016 WI 56, ¶ 46, 369 Wis.2d 673, 882 N.W.2d 422. For a statutory violation, however, an automatic remedy of suppression may be unsuitable. The statute's language need not explicitly provide suppression or exclusion as a remedy, but it nevertheless must indicate suppression may be an option "with [no] greater clarity than ordinarily required of any legislative enactment." Popenhagen, 309 Wis.2d 601, ¶ 68, 749 N.W.2d 611. Suppression may be appropriate depending upon, first, whether the statute enumerates any remedies similar to suppression and, second, whether a suppression motion would be "germane to the objectives of the statute" in question. State v. Minett, 2014 WI App 40, ¶¶ 9-10, 353 Wis.2d 484, 846 N.W.2d 831.

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins

Neither Wis. Stat. §§ 62.09(13)(a) nor 175.40(2) provide any explicit recourse if an officer conducts an arrest outside of his or her jurisdiction and is not in "fresh pursuit." Nor can the statutory language be read to conclude that any remedial recourse was intended. Under Wis. Stat. § 175.40(2), law enforcement officers "may ... arrest any person for the violation of any law or ordinance the officer is authorized to enforce" once the officer is in "fresh pursuit" of that person. That statute operates to extend the authority provided by Wis. Stat. § 62.09(13)(a), in which officers "shall arrest" anyone who breaches the peace or violates the law within their jurisdiction. Wisconsin statutes §§ 175.40(2) and 62.09(13)(a) are affirmative grants of power that do not create protections or procedure for seized or arrested persons or proscribe any conduct by police officers. See, e.g., Minett, 353 Wis.2d 484, ¶¶ 9-10, 846.

Suppression here would not serve the objectives of either statute. The statutes regarding police authority are meant to set boundaries for official action, or extend them in the case of § 175.40(2), and to "protect the rights and autonomy of local governments." *State v. Mieritz*, 193 Wis.2d 571, 576-77, 534 N.W.2d 632 (Ct.App.1995) (citation

Page 24 of 33

STATE OF WISCONSIN-VS- Jennifer A. Jenkins omitted). Wisconsin Statute §§ 175.40(2) and 62.09(13)(a) do not create an individual right to be free from extrajurisdictional seizures that are otherwise lawful, but rather serve to prevent "overlap" and conflict between the law enforcement agencies of Wisconsin municipalities by clearly delineating authority to arrest. See *Mieritz*, 193 Wis.2d at 576-77, 534 N.W.2d 632 (citation omitted).

Furthermore, absent any constitutional defects, suppression of evidence obtained following an extrajurisdictional stop on suspicion of OWI is problematic. Wisconsin Stat. § 967.055(1)(a) states that the legislature's intent is to encourage the vigorous prosecution of drunk driving. In Gorz, the Court found a police officer may conduct a citizen's arrest as a private individual for suspected driving while intoxicated without being present in their jurisdiction at all. See City of Waukesha v. Gorz, 166 Wis.2d 243, 246-48, 479 N.W.2d 221 (Ct.App.1991). Recognizing "[t]he state's interest in punishing and deterring drunk driving within its own jurisdiction is powerful and well-established[,]" it is impossible to envision any benefits that would result from suppressing evidence stemming from an investigative stop for lack of statutory authority. See Wis. Stat. § 967.055;

STATE OF WISCONSIN - VS - Jennifer A. Jenkins and See Strenke v. Hogner, 2005 WI App 194, ¶ 21, 287 Wis.2d 135, 704 N.W.2d 309. Given this interest, a defendant should not be free to offensively assert a statutory overreach on the part of law enforcement to escape liability when such overreach had no effect upon the defendant's constitutional rights or rights affirmatively granted by statute. *Mieritz*, 193 Wis.2d at 575, 534 N.W.2d 632.

With no evidence of abuse, the blood draw was not illegal.

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